2002

MFS Series Trust III (on behalf of MFS Municipal High Income Fund), Merrill Lynch High Yield Municipal Bond Fund, Inc., Muniholdings Fund, Inc., Merrill Lynch Municipal Bond Fund, the National Portfolio, Merrill Lynch Municipal Strategy Fund, Eaton Vance Distributors, Inc., T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., John Hancock Funds, Inc., and Putnam Investments, Inc., v. Kenneth W. Winger, John r. Grainger, Paul R. Humphreys, James R. Bullock, John W. Rollins, Jr., John W. Rollins, Sr., Leslie W. Haworth, David B. Thomas, Jr., Henry B. Tippie, James L. Wareham, Grover C.

---

#### Recommended Citation

## **I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Plaintiffs-Appellants MFS Series Trust III (on behalf of MFS Municipal High Income Fund), Merrill Lynch High Yield Municipal Bond Fund, Inc., Muniholdings Fund, Inc., Merrill Lynch Municipal Bond Fund, The National Portfolio, Merrill Lynch Municipal Strategy Fund, Eaton Vance Distributors, Inc., T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., John Hancock Funds, Inc., and Putnam Investments, Inc. ("Plaintiffs-Appellants") are mutual funds or mutual fund managers who have collectively sued Defendants-Appellees, the former officers and directors of Safety-Kleen Corp., formerly known as Laidlaw Environmental Services, Inc., for violations of Utah's securities laws as well as common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation. Defendants-Appellees John R. Grainger, James R. Bullock, John W. Rollins, Jr., John W. Rollins, Sr., Leslie W. Haworth, David B. Thomas, Jr., Henry B. Tippie, James L. Wareham, Grover C. Wrenn, Michael J. Bragagnolo and Henry H. Taylor ("Defendants-Appellees") moved to dismiss Plaintiffs-Appellants' complaint (the "Complaint") for lack of personal jurisdiction. The trial court concluded that it lacked personal jurisdiction over Defendants-Appellees and dismissed the Complaint.

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 1953 § 78-2-2(3)(j), as amended. The dismissal by the Third District Court of the Complaint with respect to Defendants-Appellees for lack of personal jurisdiction was certified as a final judgment under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure on August 6, 2002.

Plaintiffs-Appellants seek rescissory, compensatory, and punitive damages in an amount to be proved at trial, including treble damages pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-22(2), together with appropriate pre-judgment interest on the purchase price of the Bonds described below at the maximum rate allowable by law. The total purchase price of the Bonds in 1997 was \$45.7 million.

**II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARDS FOR REVIEW**

The issue presented by this appeal is whether a Utah court may properly exercise personal jurisdiction over (a) a corporation's officers and directors who are alleged to be personally liable for violating Utah's securities laws, regardless of the officers and directors' states of residence, and (b) officers and directors who in person or through an agent transact business in this state giving rise to Plaintiffs-Appellants' claims. The issue stems from the trial court's granting of the collective motions by Appellees in the proceeding below to dismiss Plaintiffs-Appellants' Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction.

The District Court made its ruling on personal jurisdiction based on documentary evidence alone. Hence, the Supreme Court may review the District Court's decision for "correctness." See Phone Directories Co., Inc. v. Henderson, 8 P.3d 256, 258 (Utah 2000) (citing Arguello v. Industrial Woodworking Mach. Co., 838 P. 2d 1120, 1121 (Utah 1992)). "Because the propriety of a motion to dismiss is a question of law," the Utah Supreme Court "review[s] for correctness, giving no deference to the decision of the trial court." Wagner v. Clifton, 62 P.3d

440, 441 (Utah 2002).

On September 4, 2002, Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal preserving this issue. (RA 0559-0552).

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Nature of the Case and Procedural History.**

This action arises out of the issuance (the “Issuance”) by Tooele County of Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds (“the Bonds”) on July 1, 1997, secured by a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) between the County of Tooele (the “Issuer” or the “County”) and Laidlaw Environmental Services, Inc. (“LES” or “the Borrower”) and its successor-entity, Safety-Kleen Corporation (“Safety-Kleen” or “the Company”). (RA 022, 020)<sup>1</sup>.

In April/May 1998, LES, which had been a partially-owned subsidiary of Laidlaw, Inc. (“Laidlaw”), merged with and assumed the name of Safety-Kleen Corporation. (RA 020, 017). Safety-Kleen, as successor-entity to LES, then assumed the obligations under the loan securing the securities at issue.

Appellants, in purchasing the Bonds, relied on a series of financial statements of LES incorporated by the offering documents underlying the Issuance, including quarterly and annual statements of LES’ financial performance through July 1997. (RA 06, 012, 011). These financial statements were later admitted by the Company to contain material misstatements and fraudulently

---

<sup>1</sup> “RA” refers to the record on appeal, prepared and paginated by the Clerk of the Third District Court, Tooele County in accordance with Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

reported revenue, resulting in the Bonds' plummet in value and the termination of several of the Company's officers. In sum, the principal officers of the Company, including Paul R. Humphreys ("Humphreys"), Bragagnolo, and Kenneth W. Winger ("Winger") oversaw a massive fraud in the debt and assets reporting structure of the Company, resulting in an overstatement of what the Company has admitted to be over half a billion dollars in revenues from the beginning of fiscal year 1997 (which began on August 31, 1996, or nearly one year prior to the Issuance) until 1999. (RA 017-011, 0744, 0610-0606)<sup>2</sup>.

Appellants brought suit in Tooele County on July 1, 2001, to recover their losses under Utah's securities laws, as well as under common law theories of fraud and negligence. (RA 023-01). At the heart of the Complaint were the very "accounting irregularities" referred to in the Company's press releases, resulting in material misrepresentations of the Company's financial performance and hence the true value of the securities offered in the Issuance. (RA 017-011).

Defendants-Appellees moved to dismiss the Complaint for lack of personal

---

<sup>2</sup> RA 0579-0754 consists of, *inter alia*, Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss the Complaint for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction, along with attached exhibits, originally filed and served on February 22, 2002. These materials appear out of sequence chronologically in the Record on Appeal because they were at first inadvertently omitted by the trial court from the Record on Appeal. The trial court ordered that these materials be appended to the Record on Appeal on April 14, 2003. *See* RA 0581-0580 and Amended Index of Record on Appeal.

jurisdiction.<sup>3</sup> (RA 0312, 0181, 098, 041). None of the Appellees claimed that the service of process or notice of the Complaint itself was defective, but rather argued that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction over them on constitutional grounds. (RA 091-085, 0161-0140, 0306-0290, 0318-0317). Immediately after oral argument on May 13, 2002, the trial court indicated that Defendants' motions would be granted, (RA 0578, p. 20) and an order dismissing the Complaint was entered on June 19, 2002. (RA 0517).

Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their first notice of appeal on July 18, 2002. (RA 0524-0519). Since the Order of Final Judgment on the trial court's dismissal was not entered until August 6, 2002, however, Plaintiffs-Appellants were required to file another notice of appeal and dismiss the previous appeal, which had been assigned Supreme Court Case No. 20020617. (RA 0555). On September 4, 2002, Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal giving rise to the present appeal, which was assigned Supreme Court Case No. 20020719. (RA 0559-0552).

**B. Facts Relevant to Issues Presented for Review.**

1. This action arises out of the Issuance of the Bonds on July 1, 1997, secured by the Loan Agreement pursued by LES and its successor-entity, Safety-Kleen. (RA 022, 020).

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellees filed four separate motions on January 22, 2002, either collectively or individually, as follows: on behalf of David E. Thomas, Jr., John W. Rollins, Jr., John W. Rollins, Sr., James L. Wareham, Grover C. Wrenn, and Henry B. Tippie (RA 098); on behalf of James R. Bullock, John R. Grainger, and Leslie W. Haworth (RA 041); on behalf of Henry H. Taylor (RA 0181); and on behalf of Michael Bragagnolo (RA 0312).

2. The costs of the Issuance were paid by LES. See Preliminary Offering Memorandum dated June 23, 1997 (“Offering”) (RA 0746, 0647-0646)<sup>4</sup>.
3. According to the Loan Agreement (RA 0643-0610), LES itself “requested that the County issue” the Bonds in order to refund and retire an earlier bond issuance and to continue financing “the costs of acquisition and construction by the Borrower [LES]” of a “Project.” This Project consisted of constructing and operating “certain hazardous waste disposal facilities in the County.” (RA 0639).
4. The \$45.7 million “Project” was “owned by the Borrower [LES].” Id. (emphasis added).
5. According to the Offering, the Bonds were to be “limited obligations” of the County, and “payable solely from and secured by a pledge of the revenues to be derived pursuant to [the] loan agreement” between the County and LES. This Loan Agreement – between the Borrower and the County – was entered into in this State, and by its own terms is governed by Utah law. (RA 0615).
6. The Loan Agreement was signed on behalf of LES by defendant

---

<sup>4</sup> The trial court inadvertently failed to paginate alternate pages of a double-sided document which originally appeared as Exhibit A in support of Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. (See RA 0717-0644 and alternating pages). RA 0754-0579, of which these pages are a part, were not made a part of the Record on Appeal until April 13, 2003, and were not produced to Appellants until April 17, 2003, therefore not permitting enough time for the trial court to correct the error before Appellants’ opening brief was due. Therefore, where Appellants need to cite to text appearing on a page which was not assigned a page number by the trial court, Appellants herein will cite the page numbers between which the cited text may be found.



Paul Humphreys, acting as Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of LES, and attested to by defendant Henry Taylor, acting as Vice-President, General Counsel and Secretary of LES. (RA 0613). The Issuance was valued at \$45.7 million. (RA 0645-0644; See FN 4).

7. For the benefit of potential purchasers, the Offering incorporated directly or by reference numerous financial statements from portions of the fiscal year ending August 31, 1997, containing SEC filings and pro forma financial either consisting solely of or incorporating LES' financial results, which were later withdrawn and admitted by the Company to contain material misstatements.<sup>5</sup> (RA 012).

8. Appellants are institutional purchasers who purchased and held the Bonds on behalf of themselves or various mutual funds. (RA 021).

---

<sup>5</sup> The financial reports at issue are recited in the Complaint and include, inter alia, Laidlaw, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter ended November 30, 1996; Laidlaw, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter ended February 28, 1997; LES' Reports on Form 8-K dated May 30, 1997 and June 11; Pro Forma Condensed Combined Summary Financial Data for Rollins Environmental Services, Inc. and Laidlaw Subsidiaries (including LES) for the six months ended February 28, 1997; Pro Forma Combined Financial Statements and Statement of Operations for Rollins Environmental Services, Inc. and Laidlaw Subsidiaries for the six months ended February 28, 1997; Laidlaw Hazardous Waste Services Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the six months ended February 28, 1997; Laidlaw Hazardous Waste Services Combined Statements of Income for the six months ended February 28, 1997; and Laidlaw Hazardous Waste Services Combined Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended February 28, 1997. Laidlaw, Inc.'s Quarterly Reports incorporated financial statements from its subsidiaries, including LES. (RA 012-011).

9. Under the heading “Notice to Investors,” the Offering provided that “[e]ach initial purchaser ha[d] been provided with access to such financial or other information as it has requested in connection with its decision to purchase any Bonds.” (RA 0745). According to the Offering, the “Company ha[d] [further] covenanted for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Company by not later than 180 days following the end of the Company’s fiscal year.” (RA 0745, 0655).

10. The Proposed Form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement, incorporated as Appendix C to the Offering, further stated that the content of such disclosure “shall contain or incorporate by reference...a copy of [the Company’s] annual financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,” and that this agreement would also be governed by Utah law. (RA 0716-0714).

11. LES changed its name to Safety-Kleen Corporation on November 25, 1998, after acquiring all of the outstanding capital stock of the former Safety-Kleen Corporation and replacing the entire board of the old Safety-Kleen with the directors of LES. (RA 020).

12. Less than three years after the Issuance, the Company announced that its previously reported financial statements for the fiscal years ending August 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 – thereby including several quarters leading up to the time of the Issuance, when it was operating as LES – had been materially

misstated, and would be withdrawn. (RA 017). The Company also placed its three top executives – including Bragagnolo, Humphreys, and Winger – on leave while the Company investigated the extent to which the financials would need to be restated as a result of the Company’s “accounting irregularities.” (RA 012). These three executives later resigned. Id. The value of the Bonds plunged almost immediately after the Company’s announcement, and since have been rendered valueless. (RA 011).

13. Winger and Humphreys have not Answered or otherwise responded to the Summons served on them on October 29 and 30, 2001, respectively, and are therefore not parties to this appeal. (RA 0744).

14. On July 9, 2001, or over one week after the filing of the Complaint in this action, the Company finally issued its restated financials for fiscal years 1997 through 1999, as well as the first quarter of 2000, announcing “an overall reduction in previously reported earnings of approximately \$534 million for fiscal years 1997-1999, and a loss of approximately \$833 million in fiscal year 2000.” (RA 0610-0608).

15. The restatements were made necessary, in the words of Defendant David E. Thomas, Jr., due to “unfortunate... accounting irregularities” which took place during fiscal years 1997-1999. Id. These accounting irregularities are detailed in the Complaint (RA 017-011), and remain completely uncontroverted by Defendants-Appellees.

16. Further, by definition (Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.

20), a restatement of financial statements means that those financial statements when issued were materially false. (RA 010).

17. At the time the Bonds were issued, LES was a partially-owned subsidiary of Laidlaw, Inc. (“Laidlaw”). (RA 020). On June 24, 2001, or approximately one week prior to the filing of this action, Laidlaw filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. Hence, Laidlaw is not named as a defendant in this case. *Id.* Safety-Kleen, the successor entity to LES, filed a bankruptcy petition over one year earlier, on June 9, 2000, and hence is also not named as a defendant in this case. (RA 021).

18. In the offering papers touting the Issuance, LES identified its “Executive Officers and Directors” as consisting of, among others, Appellees Michael Bragagnolo (“Bragagnolo”), Henry H. Taylor (“Taylor”), James R. Bullock (“Bullock”), John R. Grainger (“Grainger”), Leslie W. Haworth (“Haworth”), John W. Rollins, Sr. (“Rollins, Sr.”), John W. Rollins, Jr. (“Rollins, Jr.”), David B. Thomas (“Thomas”), Henry B. Tippie (“Tippie”), and James L. Wareham (“Wareham”).<sup>6</sup> (RA 0682).

19. Defendants Haworth, Tippie, and Wareham (two of whom are self-identified in their moving papers as “Outside Director Defendants”) are in fact further identified as “Audit Committee Members,” “responsible for,” inter alia,

---

<sup>6</sup> Respondent Grover C. Wrenn (“Wrenn”) has been an officer or director of the Company since July 1997, or starting shortly after the Issuance. (RA 0175). As such, statutory liability may not attach to Wrenn under the Utah securities laws. Appellants thus do not resist Wrenn’s motion.

“the oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and internal controls” as well as “considering major changes and major questions of choice regarding appropriate auditing and accounting principles and practices to be followed when preparing corporate financial statements.” (RA 0683, 0682).

20. Each of the Appellees, with the exception of Wrenn, admit to being officers or directors of the Company at the time of the Offering. (See Defendants’ Affidavits at RA 027-024, 032-028, 037-033, 0164-0162, 0167-0165, 0170-0168, 0173-0171, 0176-0174, 0179-0177).<sup>7</sup>

21. Each of the Appellees resides outside of Utah. Id.

22. The foregoing facts were uncontested by Defendants-Appellees in their Affidavits. Id.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

As set forth above, the issue raised in this appeal is whether a Utah court may properly exercise personal jurisdiction over a corporation’s officers and directors who, through their action or inaction having effects in this state, are alleged to be personally liable for violating Utah’s securities laws.

Sections 61-1-1 et seq. of the Utah Annotated Codes regulate the offer and sale of securities in this state. Section 61-1-22(4) explicitly provides for the joint and several liability of directors and officers of a person or entity that may be held

---

<sup>7</sup> “Defendants’ Affidavits” refers to the Affidavit of Henry B. Tippie; Affidavit of David E. Thomas, Jr.; Affidavit of John W. Rollins, Jr.; Affidavit of James L. Wareham; Affidavit of Grover C. Wrenn; Affidavit of Henry B. Tippie; Affidavit of Henry H. Taylor; Affidavit of James R. Bullock; Affidavit of John R. Grainger; Affidavit of Leslie W. Haworth; Affidavit of Michael Bragagnolo.

liable under the securities laws, and shifts the burden onto these individuals to prove as a matter of law their lack of knowledge or reason to know of the facts giving rise to the liability of the person or entity they are presumed to have controlled. See Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-22(4). For the purposes of establishing liability, then, Utah's securities statutes presume that corporate officers and directors have undertaken actions (or actionable inaction) having effects in the state of Utah, absent a showing by the same corporate officers and directors that they did not know or could not reasonably have known of the facts giving rise to the liability of the corporation or agents they are presumed to have controlled. Utah's long arm jurisdiction statute specifically provides for personal jurisdiction over out-of-state actors whose activities "affect persons or businesses within the state of Utah." See Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-27-24, 78-27-23. Additionally, where personal service is otherwise impossible to obtain, Utah has enacted a fail-safe method of both serving process on and obtaining personal jurisdiction over individuals such as Appellees. See Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-26. The trial court below, however, failed to correctly apply Utah law in its jurisdictional analysis. For the reasons discussed below, Utah may properly exercise personal jurisdiction over Appellees, and their collective motions to dismiss the Complaint should be denied.

## V. ARGUMENT

Under Utah law, a three-part inquiry is used to determine whether a court may exercise specific personal jurisdiction over a defendant. These parts include

(a) that the defendant's acts or contacts implicate Utah under the Utah long-arm statute; (b) that a "nexus" exists between the plaintiffs' claims and the defendant's acts or contacts; and (c) that the application of the long-arm statute does not offend due process. Harnischfeger Engineers, Inc. v. Uniflo Conveyor, Inc., 883 F. Supp. 608 (D. Utah 1995) (superseded by statute on other grounds). Upon application of these criteria, a Utah court may exercise specific jurisdiction over each of the Appellees.

**A. Legal Standards.**

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