2002

MFS SERIES TRUST III (on behalf of MFS MUNICIPAL HIGH INCOME FUND), MERRILL LYNCH HIGH YIELD MUNICIPAL BOND FUND, INC., MUNIHOLDINGS FUND, INC., MERRILL LYNCH MUNICIPAL BOND FUND, THE NATIONAL PORTFOLIO, MERRILL LYNCH MUNICIPAL STRATEGY FUND, EATON VANCE DISTRIBUTORS, INC., T. ROWE PRICE ASSOCIATES, INC., JOHN HANCOCK FUND, INC., AND PUTNAM INVESTMENTS, INC., v. KENNETH W. WINGER, JOHN R. GRAINGER, PAUL R. HUMPHREYS, JAMES R. BULLOCK, JOHN W.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellee, *MFS Series Trust III v. Winger*, No. 20020719.00 (Utah Supreme Court, 2002).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_sc2/2253

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, U.S. Supreme Court precedent, and the unequivocal rulings of this Court, require that Plaintiffs proffer jurisdictional facts establishing that *each* individual Defendant had minimum contacts with Utah. Each outside director Defendant submitted an uncontroverted affidavit attesting that he had no contact with the State of Utah and no involvement with the July 1997 Safety-Kleen bond offering. Therefore, the trial court correctly ruled, as it must, that it could not exercise personal jurisdiction over these Defendants.

The trial court's ruling is consonant with this Court's holding in *D.A. v. State*, 603 P.2d 607 (Utah 2002), a case that Plaintiffs fail to cite anywhere in their brief. In *D.A. v.*

State, the Court held that a nonresident defendant must have constitutionally-required minimum contacts with Utah in every instance, regardless of the state law basis for personal jurisdiction. Thus, neither § 61-1-22(4) (control person allegations) nor § 61-1-26 (substitution of service) can authorize personal jurisdiction in the absence of minimum contacts. Section 61-1-22(4) is particularly unsuitable for this task because Plaintiffs were never in privity with Safety-Kleen with respect to the bond offering (as is required to state a *prima facie* case under § 61-1-22(4)) and because § 61-1-22(4) was never meant to provide even a state law basis for personal jurisdiction. In essence, Plaintiffs seek to have the Utah courts exercise personal jurisdiction over these Defendants solely because they were board members of Safety-Kleen. The Fourteenth Amendment does not permit jurisdiction to be established on such an attenuated basis.

V. ARGUMENT

A. **The Trial Court Correctly Found That The Outside Director Defendants Did Not Have The Requisite “Minimum Contacts” With Utah To Permit The Exercise Of Personal Jurisdiction**

Utah courts may exercise jurisdiction over nonresidents to the “fullest extent permitted by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-22. The central inquiry is whether the exercise of jurisdiction comports with “traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice” as articulated in *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945), and subsequent Supreme Court cases. *Arguello*, 838 P.2d at 1123.

Personal jurisdiction may be general or specific. Plaintiffs proceeded before the trial court, and now on appeal, under the theory of specific jurisdiction.

B. Basic Principles Governing Specific Jurisdiction

The exercise of specific jurisdiction depends upon the “quality and nature’ of the minimum contacts [with Utah] and their relationship to the claim asserted.” *Id.* at 1123 (quoting *International Shoe*, 326 U.S. at 319). In other words, plaintiffs’ claims must “arise[] out of some contact defendant[s] [have] with the forum state, some action taken by the defendant[s] by which it can be shown that defendant[s] [have] ‘purposefully availed [themselves] of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state.’” *Roskelley*, 610 P.2d at 1311 (quoting *Hanson v. Denckla*, 357 U.S. 235, 253 (1958)). Purposeful availment means an “an action of the *defendant[s]* purposefully directed toward the forum state.” *SII Megadiamond, Inc. v. American Superabrasives Corp.*, 969 P.2d 430, 437 (Utah 1998) (emphasis added) (quoting *Asahi Metal Indus. Co. v. Superior Court*, 480 U.S. 102, 112 (1987)). If a plaintiff proves facts allowing the exercise of specific jurisdiction, the court must still consider whether the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable. *SII Megadiamond*, 969 P.2d at 435-36 (citing *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 478 (1985)). If it is not, jurisdiction will not be established. *Id.*

Jurisdiction cannot rest on the fact that Utah is affected by the actions of the defendant in another place. A defendant must personally act in a way that is expressly aimed at, and foreseeably causes injury in, Utah. *Calder v. Jones*, 465 U.S. at 789-90. Utah must be the “focal point of the tort and its harm.” *Hydro Eng’g, Inc. v. Landa, Inc.*, 231 F. Supp. 2d 1130, 1135 (D. Utah 2002). A purely financial injury to Utah residents is not sufficient to create jurisdictional contacts. *Far West Capital, Inc. v. Towne*, 46

F.3d 1071, 1078-80 (10th Cir. 1995) (naked allegations of financial injury to Utah residents not sufficient to establish “minimum contacts”); *Patriot Sys.*, 21 F. Supp. 2d at 1324 (personal jurisdiction cannot be predicated on purely financial injury caused by nonresident); *Harnischfegger Eng’rs, Inc. v. Uniflo Conveyor, Inc.*, 883 F. Supp. 608, 613 & n.6 (D. Utah 1995) (recognizing that financial injury to a Utah resident “has been flatly rejected by the Utah courts as a basis for exercising specific personal jurisdiction” and personal jurisdiction on that grounds would “likely violate federal due process”). This is even more forceful where, as here, Defendants are not being sued by Utah residents, but by out-of-state investors with no connection to Utah. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-22 (“[T]he public interest demands the state *provide its citizens with an effective means of redress* against nonresident persons, who, through certain significant minimal contacts with this state, *incur obligations to citizens . . .*” (emphasis added)); *Asahi*, 480 U.S. at 114 (noting that a state’s “legitimate interests” in a dispute are “considerably diminished” when the plaintiff is not a forum resident).

Jurisdiction depends on the actions of the defendant, not the unilateral actions of the plaintiff. *Hanson*, 357 U.S. at 253 (“The unilateral activity of those who claim some relationship with the nonresident defendant cannot satisfy the requirement of contact with the forum State.”). Thus, even if Plaintiffs had or could have alleged that they pooled the bonds in a mutual fund under their control, and sold shares of this mutual fund to Utah residents (of which there is no evidence), this would not suffice to create a jurisdictional contact between Utah and any Defendant. *Far West Capital*, 46 F.3d at 1078-80.

C. Actions Of The Corporation Are Not Attributable To The Outside Directors Because The Court Did Not Find That The Outside Directors Did Anything Related To The Allegations In This Case

Plaintiffs do not even attempt to show that the outside directors personally did anything related to the allegations of the complaint. Attribution of a corporation's jurisdictional contacts to a director is only possible if plaintiffs prove the director participated in or directed the corporation's tortious actions, hence expressly aiming tortious activity at Utah and foreseeably causing harm in Utah.

Plaintiffs rely on *Seagate Tech. v. A.J. Kogyo Co.*, 219 Cal. App. 3d 696 (1990), a case that actually illustrates the flaws in their theory. BOA at 29. A nonresident officer or director *who causes* a corporation to commit torts in California may be sued in California *for his acts* and the corporation's jurisdictional contacts resulting from these torts may be imputed to the officer or director who caused them:

An act taken by a corporate officer may subject the officer to in personam jurisdiction. The act must be one for which the officer would be personally liable and the act must in fact create contact between the officer and the forum state. (For example, no personal contact would result from doing nothing more than ratifying an act taken by the corporation or another corporate officer.)

Id. at 703-04. *Seagate* does not sanction the imputation of corporation minimum contacts to individual directors *in the absence of evidence showing the character and quality of the director's own individual acts.*

Thus, *Seagate* is of no help to Plaintiffs, absent evidence that each outside director Defendant took affirmative acts aimed at Utah.⁷ See *Ten-Mile Indus. Park v. Western*

⁷ Plaintiffs also cite to *United States Liability Insurance Co. v. Haidinger-Hayes, Inc.*, 1

Plains Serv. Corp., 810 F.2d 1518, 1527 (10th Cir. 1987) (“Jurisdiction over the representatives of a corporation may not be predicated on jurisdiction over the corporation itself, and jurisdiction over the individual officers and directors must be based on their individual contacts with the forum state.”); *Wegerer v. First Commodity Corp.*, 744 F.2d 719, 727 (10th Cir. 1984) (“Jurisdiction over the individual officers of a corporation, however, may not be obtained merely by accomplishing jurisdiction over the corporation.”); *National Petroleum Mktg., Inc. v. Phoenix Fuel Co.*, 902 F. Supp. 1459, 1469 (D. Utah 1995) (“[E]mployee contacts with a jurisdiction ‘are not to be judged according to their employer’s activities there.’”)(quoting *Calder*, 465 U.S. at 790)); accord *LeDuc v. Kentucky Cent. Life Ins. Co.*, 814 F. Supp. 820, 825 (N.D. Cal. 1992) (“There is no evidence of any purposeful action taken by this defendant either in or directed at California which is in any way connected with the fraud alleged in this action. Plaintiffs seek to establish personal jurisdiction over this individual on nothing more than his corporate title.”); *Taylor-Rush v. Multitech Corp.*, 217 Cal. App. 3d 103, 114 (1990) (holding that outside directors of a foreign corporation did not have sufficient contacts for personal jurisdiction when there was “no evidence that they participated in or directed any tortious conduct or omission either within or without California”).

Cal. 3d 586 (1970), although this case does not address personal jurisdiction at all. *Haidinger-Hayes* merely stands for the unremarkable proposition that a director of a corporation may be liable for his own tortious conduct. *Id.* at 595.

D. Personal Jurisdiction Under Utah Law, And The Case Of *D.A. v. State*

In past years, this Court has balanced the interplay of Utah personal jurisdiction law and federal due process through a number of different formulations. In some instances, this Court has applied a three-pronged test, the first two prongs addressing the requirements of the Utah long-arm statute, and the necessary third prong addressing the requirements of federal due process. *E.g., Phone Directories Co., Inc. v. Henderson*, 8 P.3d 256, 260 (Utah 2000). Other cases have reduced this formulation to a single line: “[W]e frequently make a [federal] due process analysis first because any set of circumstances that satisfies due process will also satisfy the long-arm statute.” *SII Megadiamond*, 969 P.2d at 433.

With the December 20, 2002, case of *D.A. v. State*, 63 P.3d 607 (Utah 2002), this Court acknowledged the multitude of extant formulations and clarified that there was one unified test for assessing specific personal jurisdiction:

First, the court must assess whether *Utah law* confers personal jurisdiction over the nonresident defendant. This means that a court may rely on any Utah statute affording it personal jurisdiction, not just Utah’s long-arm statute. Second, assuming Utah law confers personal jurisdiction over the nonresident defendant, the court must assess whether an assertion of jurisdiction comports with the due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Id. at 612; accord *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 F.2d 1357, 1360 (9th Cir. 1990)(“There are two limitations on a court’s power to exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant: the applicable state personal jurisdiction rule and the constitutional principles of due process.”). Remarkably, Plaintiffs’ opening brief does not even cite *D.A. v. State*, even though it is the leading Utah authority on the question presented, nor does it

anywhere acknowledge the two-prong jurisdictional inquiry that it establishes.

This Court held that § 78-3a-110(3)⁸ was an alternative basis for jurisdiction, *under state law*, to the Utah long-arm statute in juvenile court proceedings. Although the Utah legislature explicitly authorized the exercise of personal jurisdiction for such proceedings under § 78-3a-110(3), this did not obviate the requirement that any assertion of jurisdiction must also comply with the requirements of federal due process. *D.A. v. State*, 63 P. 3d at 613 (“Despite our conclusion that Utah law confers personal jurisdiction over *D.A.*, federal law nevertheless mandates that we consider whether exercising jurisdiction over her comports with the due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment.”).

The ruling in *D.A. v. State* highlights the fundamental flaw in Plaintiffs’ theory of personal jurisdiction. They cast about for alternative theories of jurisdiction, whether through allegations of control person liability under § 61-1-22(4), *see infra* Section IV.E., or substitution of service under § 61-1-26, *see infra* Section IV.F. As is discussed below, these theories do not confer jurisdiction, even under Utah law. Even if they did, Plaintiffs have missed the all-important constitutional question. As the trial court found, the assertion of personal jurisdiction over these Defendants would violate federal due process.

⁸ Section 78-3a-110(13), confers jurisdiction over nonresident parents in Utah juvenile courts: “If the parents . . . cannot be found within the state . . . (c) [s]ervice of summons as provided in this subsection shall vest the court with jurisdiction . . . in the same manner and to the same extent as if the person served was served personally within the state.”

E. The Theory Of Control Person Liability Is An Insufficient Basis To Establish Jurisdiction Over Individual Directors In This Case

Plaintiffs try to evade the rule that a corporation's minimum contacts are not attributed to individual directors unless the plaintiffs prove the directors participated in or directed the corporation's acts. Plaintiffs contend that allegations of control person liability under § 61-1-22(4) of the Utah securities laws trigger jurisdiction in Utah courts.⁹ They say § 61-1-22(4) shifts to the Defendants the burden of showing their lack of involvement in securities law violations. Therefore, Plaintiffs say, they are relieved of the burden of proving the minimum contacts of a "control person" in response to a motion to dismiss. They say allegations of § 61-1-22(4) liability either establish jurisdiction or, at least, shift to Defendants the burden of proving lack of personal jurisdiction in Utah courts. BOA at 15-16.

This argument has no merit.

1. Assuming Well-Pled Allegations Of Control Person Liability Suffice To Establish Jurisdiction, They Are Facially Defective Here

Plaintiffs' argument fails because the complaint does not allege *prima facie* control person liability under § 61-1-22(4). Every count in Plaintiffs' complaint fails to state a viable or coherent cause of action given the requirements of § 61-1-22(4).

Counts I and II cannot give rise to control person liability under § 61-1-22(4),

⁹ "Every person who directly or indirectly controls a seller or buyer liable under Subsection (1), every partner, officer, or director of such a seller or buyer, . . . are also liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as the seller or purchaser, unless the nonseller or nonpurchaser who is so liable sustains the burden of proof that he did not know, and in exercise of reasonable case could not have known, of the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability is alleged to exist." Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-22(4).

because the allegations of the complaint do not state *prima facie* primary liability under § 61-1-22(1) (which creates a private remedy for violations of § 61-1-1). Liability under § 61-1-22(1) only attaches to a person who actually “offers, sells, or purchases a security,” and secondary liability to the control person under § 61-1-22(4) only to the same extent as the “seller or buyer.” Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-22(1), (4); *Levitz v. Warrington*, 877 P.2d 1245, 1246 n.2 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“Section 61-1-22(4)(a) makes a person liable only if *buyers or sellers* under his or her control are liable under Section 61-1-22(1)(a).”). Not only does liability under § 61-1-22(1) attach only to an actual seller, but this seller is liable only to “the person . . . buying the security from him.” In other words, Plaintiffs must be in privity with Safety-Kleen in order to give rise to control person liability under § 61-1-22(4). *See Gohler, IRA v. Wood*, 919 P.2d 561, 565-66 & n.6 (Utah 1996) (holding that there is no liability under section 61-1-22(4) unless plaintiff is in privity with seller).

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